AgStewardship Australia Limited
ACN 133 108 853
8 Geils Court, Deakin ACT
Ph: (02) 6283 8120 Fax: (02) 62838130
16 August 2018

Australian Competition & Consumer Commission
adjudication@accc.gov.au
Your ref:
C2007/1896
Attention Ms Elizabeth Batten
Re: Authorisation A91382 AgStewardship Australia Limited
The AgStewardship Board resolved to seek the revocation and substitution of Authorisation A91382 at
the Board meeting held on 8 August 2018.This application outlines the reason for the imposition of the
levy and the continuation of the programs and provides relevant statistical information and
supplementary materials to support the application. The statistical data and values referenced in the
application have been sourced from Agsafe operations of the programs (that is, drumMUSTER and
ChemClear programs).
The public benefit assessment made by the ACCC in the previous applications with regards to the levy
and related programs, in the view of AgStewardship Board, remains unchanged. This application seeks
to increase in levy, no other changes in coverages or edibility criteria for containers.
We request that the following be excluded from the public register on the basis that this is commercial
in confidence to the parties and contains the commercial arrangements and schedule of fees applicable
to the successful delivery of the programs.
AgStewardship and Agsafe Limited ‐ Program Delivery and Services Agreement
Schedule 3 ‐ Costs and Fees

Please let me know the ACCC require any further details. In the first instance can you direct any inquiries
to Agsafe’s General Manager Dominique Doyle at Dominique.doyle@agsafe.org.au; or telephone 02
6206 6888
Yours sincerely

Bruce Papps
Chair AgStewardship Australia Limited

Application for revocation of ACCC
authorisation A91382 and
substitution of a replacement
authorisation
by AgStewardship Australia Limited

August 2018

APPLICATION FOR REVOCATION AND SUBSTITUTION OF AUTHORISATION A91382
Applicant
1.

Details of the applicants for revocation and substitution

1.1

Name, address, telephone number and ACN
AgStewardship Australia Limited
(ACN 133 108 853)
8 Geils Court
DEAKIN ACT 2600
Telephone: 02 61622639
Email: admin@agstewardshipaustralia.org.au;
AgStewardship Australia is a not‐for‐profit company that develops, facilitates and funds the
stewardship programs drumMUSTER® and ChemClear®.
The members of AgStewardship Australia are as follows:
 CropLife Australia Limited (ACN 008 579 048), Level 1 42 Macquarie Street Barton
ACT 2600
 National Farmers’ Federation Limited (ACN 097 140 166), 14 Brisbane Avenue
Barton ACT 2600
 Animal Medicines Australia Limited (formerly Animal Health Alliance (Australia) Ltd)
ACN 116 948 344), 18 National Circuit Barton ACT 2600
 The Veterinary Manufacturers and Distributors Association Limited (ACN 124 689
103), 2 Highland Drive Bowral NSW 2576.

1.2

AgStewardship Australia Contact
Bruce Papps (Chair AgStewardship Australia)
Telephone: 02 61622639
Email address: admin@agstewardshipaustralia.org.au;

1.3

Description of business activities
AgStewardship Australia is responsible for collection and governance of the levy that funds
the two voluntary Stewardship programs drumMUSTER® and ChemClear® (the programs).
Details of the Constitution and Board of Directors of AgStewardship Australia are provided in
the supporting Submission to this application.
The programs provide for the collection of used, unwanted, empty agricultural and
veterinary (“agvet”) chemical containers and chemicals and impose a levy on manufacturers
and suppliers of agvet chemicals (currently 4 cents per litre/kg) on agvet chemical containers
that is passed on to agvet chemical users at the purchase point of eligible containers.
It is an obligation on members of CropLife Australia and Animals Medicines Australia to be
participants in the program. The members of VMDA (The Veterinary Manufacturers &
Distributors Association Ltd) are encouraged to be participants in the programs. Other
manufacturers of agvet chemicals can voluntarily participate in the programs provided they
impose the levy as outlined above.
The programs are managed and administered by Agsafe Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary
of CropLife Australia under an agreement with AgStewardship Australia.
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For clarity Agsafe Limited operates independently of CropLife Australia with its own Board of
Directors and management and runs other stewardship services for the agvet sector.
Details of participating members of the programs are attached as Appendix 1.

1.4

Email address for the service of documents in Australia
admin@agstewardshipaustralia.org.au;

AUTHORISATION TO BE REVOKED (THE EXISTING AUTHORISATION)
Details of the authorisation sought to be revoked
2.1

ACCC Authorisation number A91382 dated 29 January 2014 which granted authorisation
until 19 February 2019 to AgStewardship Australia Limited for the imposition of a 4 cents per
litre/kg levy on manufacturers and suppliers of agvet chemicals.

Other persons and /or classes of persons who are party to the authorisation which is to be
revoked
2.2

AgStewardship Australia Limited and its members namely CropLife Australia Limited, Animal
Medicines Australia Limited, National Farmers Federation Limited, The Veterinary
Manufacturers and Distributors Association Limited.
Australian Local Government Association is no longer a member of the company. A list of the
participants in the programs is attached as Appendix 1.

The basis for seeking revocation
2.3

The basis for seeking revocation of Authorisation A91382 is due to the ACCC authorisation
expiring on 19 February 2019 and to seek a new authorisation for the conduct currently
authorised but with a change in the rate of levy imposed on participants in the programs
from 4 cents per litre/kg to 6 cents per litre/kg on agvet chemical containers that is passed
on to agvet chemical users at the purchase point of eligible containers.
In the event that a final determination for the application by AgStewardship Australia is not
made by the ACCC prior to 19 February 2019, AgStewardship Australia seeks an interim
authorisation to allow for the continuation of the programs beyond the expiry date until
such time as the ACCC issues its final determination of the application so lodged.

AUTHORISATION TO BE SUBSTITUTED (the new authorisation)
Details of other persons and/or classes of persons who also propose to engage or become
engaged, in the proposed conduct and on whose behalf authorisation is sought
3

AgStewardship Australia Limited and its members namely CropLife Australia Limited, Animal
Medicines Australia Limited, National Farmers Federation Limited, The Veterinary
Manufacturers and Distributors Association Limited and the participants in the programs as
attached in Appendix 1. The details for AgStewardship Australia and its members are also
included in Appendix 1.
New participants who agree to participate and impose a levy in support of the two programs
drumMUSTER and ChemClear in the program during any new authorisation period will also
be covered by such an authorisation if so granted.
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The proposed conduct
Details of the proposed conduct
Description of the proposed conduct
4.1

AgStewardship Australia is responsible for the collection of the levies to administer the two
voluntary stewardship programs drumMUSTER and ChemClear (the programs) and to
provide guidance and support to Agsafe Limited, the program managers appointed by
AgStewardship Australia for the day‐to‐day operations of the programs.
As stated in 1.3 above the programs provide for the collection of used, unwanted, empty
agricultural and veterinary (“agvet”) chemical containers and chemicals and impose a levy
on manufacturers and suppliers of agvet chemicals (currently 4 cents per litre/kg) on agvet
chemical containers that is passed on to agvet chemical users at the purchase point of
eligible containers.
This application seeks authorisation for the continuation of the imposition of a levy but at a
rate of 6 cents per litre/kilogram by participants in the programs replacing the current levy
of 4 cents per litre/kilogram on agvet chemical containers that is passed on to agvet
chemical users at the purchase point of eligible containers. A period of five years from the
expiration of the current authorisation is sought.
There is a high risk that a levy rate of 4 cents per kilogram/litre will no longer support the
programs long term without considerable drawdown and likely full depletion of reserves.
A levy set at 6 cents per litre/kilogram will allow:










meeting of the demand for price increases from contracted services, especially
payments to processors faced with diminished returns from the prices paid for
recycled plastic and a fall in demand for such material due to changed market
circumstances
investment in additional infrastructure to fill gaps identified for collection sites for
the drumMUSTER program
refurbishment of current drum cages at many of the container collection sites
Information technology improvements to streamline payments to collection
agencies, local councils and community groups
Reinvigorate promotion of the programs to improve the programs’ performance;
Budget allocations towards research into emerging trends in packaging and the
changing market for recycled material, particularly the use of recycled materials
Fund additional collections including to remote areas for the programs
Continue to develop relationships and agreements with community groups and
resellers of agvet chemicals to improve collection rates of containers and awareness
of the programs and the benefits accruing to communities from successful voluntary
stewardship programs.
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Outline of any changes to the conduct between the existing authorisation and the new
authorisation
4.2

The changes proposed by AgStewardship Australia relate to the quantum of the levy
imposed namely proposing a levy of 6 cents per litre/kilogram by participants in the
programs. There are no further changes proposed.
Subject to the ACCC granting an authorisation the revised levy will be imposed with effect
from 1 July 2019. This will allow for the programs participants and AgStewardship Australia
to have sufficient time to take the necessary measures including notification to the sellers of
agvet chemicals and in turn the end users of the agvet chemicals in an orderly manner and
with a sufficient time to make any adjustments to prices to incorporate the new levy with
effect from 1 July 2019.

The relevant provisions of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth) to which the proposed
conduct would or might apply
4.3

Section 45 of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth) relating to cartels may apply in
relation to this application, through the participants agreeing to impose a levy on goods sold
to fund specific activities. Participation in the programs is voluntary for agvet chemical
manufacturers.

The rationale of the proposed conduct
4.4

The two programs drumMUSTER and ChemClear fulfil a need within the primary industry
sector of the economy. Without a levy system to allow for these programs to be conducted,
there is little incentive for programs similar to these to be either undertaken by industry and
end users or by government to intervene without a more substantial cost to end users,
unless mandatory measures imposed by government were in place.
AgStewardship contends that the participation level of agvet manufacturers is over 90 per
cent of the total volume of eligible containers of agvet chemicals sold in the Australian
market to primary producers. As a product stewardship scheme the levy is part of the price
of the purchase of agvet chemicals. This sends a price signal to end users of the products
that there is a cost for disposal of the containers or for unused agvet products that needs to
be paid for if the end user recognises that it is part of the supply chain and must also
contribute to the life cycle of the products they purchase.
The value proposition of the programs to participants is recognised as the number of
participants to the programs continues to increase. The need to impose a levy to fund the
programs is recognised and is reflective in the high participation rate of agvet
manufacturers.
AgStewardship Australia submits that the programs are designed and cater for the negative
consequences including environmental and health and safety costs arising from the
improper disposal both of agvet chemical containers and packaging and unwanted
chemicals.
The current levy of 4 cents per litre/kilogram has been in place since 1999. AgStewardship
has been able to utilise reserves accumulated mainly from the early years of the levy being
in place to fund more recent shortfalls in current operational costs.
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AgStewardship would contend that the real value of the 4 cents has been degraded each
year, and if CPI was applied across those years, the rate today would be close to 7 cents
litre/kg.
The cost of collection and processing of a 20 litre has increased over time however currently
equates to $1.42 per 20 litre containers compared to the levy collected on that same
container of $0.80. Please note that this is exclusive of ChemClear program costs.
Similarly, the costs for the collection and processing of ChemClear Group 1 products has
risen over time and increases in the volume and size of collections will provide significant
cost pressures on the program. Since the inception of the ChemClear program, collection
and processing costs for the Group 1 products equates to $9.08 per litre/kg.
Term of authorisation sought and reasons for seeking a five year authorisation
4.5

The term of authorisation sought is for a further five (5) years. This is consistent with the
period for previous authorisations granted to AgStewardship Australia and prior to that
time, Agsafe Limited. This length of authorisation allows for a considered approach by all
parties to measure the continuing success or otherwise of the program, and to review some
of the externalities to the program that may affect its operations.
In the next five years AgStewardship will need to examine emerging trends that are
occurring in the environment for recycling. These emerging trends are being driven by
changes in the market for recycled materials, pricing pressures on recycled materials,
decisions by governments federal and state to deal with waste management and recycling.
The expected trends of plastics in both landfill (anticipated target of 100% of Australian
packaging being recyclable, compostable or reusable by 2025) and for recycling, changes in
the types of plastics that are being used in the manufacture of agvet chemical containers
which may affect the viability of the current drumMUSTER program in the future.
Further threats to the drumMUSTER program centre partially on the new measures imposed
by other countries to the import of all recycled materials including plastics. The plastic
material entering the drumMUSTER program must meet standards of ensuring that the
plastic material is clean when processed at collection points. However, there is an overall
effect currently on the price paid for recycled material and this is impacting upon current
Australian plastics recycling market and the viability of many operators in the recycling
business. This may affect the sustainability of programs such as drumMUSTER.

5.

Impact of proposed conduct
AgStewardship Australia understands that end users of agvet products may be impacted by
the proposed levy increase as it will increase marginally the price paid for the agvet
chemicals. The attached submission to the application will address these matters.

Market information and concentration
6.

The products and/or services, geographic area, supplied by the applicants and identify all
products and services in which two or more of the parties to the proposed conduct overlap
(compete with each other) or have a vertical relationship
The agvet chemical products market serves primary producers in the Australian agricultural
sector. The participants in the programs compete with each other in the supply of agvet
chemicals both in price and in the different types of agvet chemicals required to serve the
primary producers’ needs which vary both from the type activities undertaken, the seasonal
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influences and also the diseases and pest identified at any time and the agronomic needs.
There is no one dominant company in the agvet chemical market as is illustrated in the
number of participants in the programs.
7.

Relevant industry or industries. Describe the sales process, the supply chains of any
products or services involved and the manufacturing process
AgStewardship Australia contends the industry is the agricultural industry in particular those
manufacturing, wholesaling and supplying the industry and the end users of agvet chemical
products.
The supply of agvet chemicals is through the large reseller networks and some direct sellers
using internet channels that have been established to sell products. Both manufacturers and
the suppliers of agvet products have an extensive network of agronomists, veterinarians and
consultants who assist end users in the choice of the appropriate products to meet end user
needs. The manufacturing and wholesaling industry is made up of multiple companies who
both directly manufacturer and/or import products.
Most products covered by the programs sold into the Australian market are required to be
registered by the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, a
Commonwealth Government statutory authority.

8.

Overlapping products and/or services identified, and estimated market shares of each of
the parties where readily available
AgStewardship Australia does not collect or have access to data in respect of these matters.
There is no overlap between the manufacturers and wholesale distributors of agvet products
and the reseller network in respect of the sale of agvet chemical products. However, the
reseller network may, either directly or through their subsidiary companies, market products
to which holds an APVMA registration.

9.

Competitive constraints on the parties to the proposed conduct, including likely change to
these constraints should authorisation be granted.
AgStewardship Australia does not anticipate any major change to competitive constraints
should authorisation be granted.

9.1

Existing or potential competitors
AgStewardship Australia contends that the imposition of the levy will not affect existing or
potential competitors in the market for agvet chemicals. The programs are supported by a
voluntary levy.
The barriers to entry into the agvet chemical market are in AgStewardship Australia's
opinion low particularly in the area of manufacture and wholesaling of product, provided the
products are registered. The distribution and sale of agvet chemical products is a
competitive environment which allows for competition and is not dominated by any one
company.

9.2

The likelihood of entry of new competitors
As stated previously the programs are a voluntary program. There have not been any
competitive programs established that would undertake the collection of agvet chemical
containers nor an agvet chemical disposal program.
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There are no impediments to the entry of a competitive scheme being established and
operated under similar or different criteria. As product stewardship programs the costs are
borne by those that choose to participate.
9.3

Any countervailing power of customers and/or suppliers
AgStewardship Australia contends that current levy payers have chosen to be part of the
programs as they ultimately believe in the value provided by the program and secondly that
those companies that choose to be part of the program recognise that its forms part of their
ongoing corporate responsibility to manage the life‐cycle of their products and containers.

9.4

Any other relevant factors
See Submission provided by AgStewardship Australia in support of this application for other
relevant factors.

Public benefit
10.

Describe the benefits to the public that are likely to result from the proposed conduct.
Refer to the public benefit that resulted under the authorisation previously granted.
Provide data, documents or other evidence relevant to the ACCC’s assessment of the
public benefits
The public benefits of the programs have been outlined in previous applications for
authorisation and these remain relevant to this application.
These public benefits include:








Ongoing improvements in environment protection and public health and safety
through the provision of an effective pathway for the appropriate disposal of
unwanted empty, clean agvet containers and for hazardous chemicals. The program
ChemClear has allowed a reduction in the stockpiling on farms of unwanted
chemicals by offering a service that in the case of Group 1 agvet chemicals is free to
end users, and in the case of Group 2 it offers a pathway for disposal of those
chemicals both in a safe and effective manner and at a reduced cost than would be
offered by any alternative service, should in fact any such service be offered. The
prospect of such a service has not arisen over the time of the previous authorisation.
There should now be no need for end users to take a path of burning containers
when the opportunity for recycling is available. Driving behavioural change from
previous practices has, in AgStewardship Australia’s view been a positive effect of
the drumMUSTER program. Improper disposal of agvet containers and agvet
chemicals would have negative consequences to both the environment and public
good
Ongoing improvements in resource management including the re‐use of the
recycled waste material (predominantly plastic) for other uses and thus reducing the
amount of material going into landfill sites
Allowing for the facilitation of greater economic efficiencies by means of a
structured, safe and well governed service Australia‐wide that is funded by all end
users purchasing eligible products – compared to individuals acquiring collection
services in rural and remote areas from commercial operators
Lower compliance costs from a well‐established voluntary program that remains
aligned with the National Waste Reduction Policy and the objectives of the Product
Stewardship Act 2011 (Cth), which aims to foster in the first instance voluntary
approaches to product stewardship and in the case of the programs is effective
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Environmental, health and safety outcomes consistent with Australia’s international
obligations concerning the safe management and transport of hazardous waste,
whilst enhancing the reputation of the industry
The program, drumMUSTER is a pathway to achieving the broader future aims of
governments state and federal to reduce plastics in landfill and long term aim of
excluding plastics from landfill
Consistent demand for ChemClear services as outlined in the attached Submission
Containers collected through the drumMUSTER program remain at approximately 50
per cent of eligible containers sold into the market. Whilst there has not been a
growth in the number of containers collected AgStewardship Australia does not
believe this represents program failure and that the continued collection of
containers remains in the public interest and is a public benefit

Additional information on the public benefits of the programs including the performance of
the programs is outlined in the attached Submission.
Public detriment including any competition effects
11.

Describe any detriments to the public likely to result from the propose conduct, including
those likely to result from any lessening in competition. Refer to the public detriment that
may have resulted under the authorisation previously granted. Provide information, data,
documents, or other evidence relevant to the ACCC assessment of the detriments.
AgStewardship Australia notes that previously the ACCC has stated that the relevant areas of
competition are:




The manufacture and wholesale supply of agvet chemicals
The distribution and sale of agvet chemical products in Australia
The collection and recycling particularly of agvet chemical waste

The ACCC has previously outlined its assessment of the public detriments and concluded
that there was minimal public detriment from the programs.
The areas ACCC have identified as public detriments are as follows:




Increased prices for end users due to the imposition of the levy
Inability of some users to access the service
Inability of some users to access the ChemClear program without further cost

Each of these areas may remain relevant in any assessment.
There is an increased price for end users if manufacturers/distributors choose to participate
in the programs, however AgStewardship would submit that this firstly has not seen the
numbers of participants in the programs decrease, but rather, there has been an increase in
participants from 100 to 116. Coverage of the programs of agvet chemical suppliers is in
AgStewardship Australia’s estimate in excess of 90 per cent of the manufacturers in the
agvet market.
The cost of the levy as part of the final price of product represents in most cases less than
0.01% of the total purchase price.
As an example, 10 litre container of Paramectin Pour‐On RU for cattle price $774.95
including levy of 40 cents. Based on a levy of 6 cents per litre price would increase from
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$774.95 to $775.15. Levy would represent 0.0005 per cent of the purchase price of the
chemical.
RoundUp Ct 20 litre herbicide $116.00 (including levy) would increase to $116.40. Levy
would represent an increase of 0.003 per cent of the purchase price of the chemical.
Under the proposed levy of 6 cents per litre/kilogram the increased price for end users will
be negligible.
In respect of the availability of the service and the inability of some users to access the
service, this remains a challenge that is constantly being addressed. As outlined above,
AgStewardship Australia proposes to fund additional collections and to provide additional
investment in collection sites to fill gaps identified. Remote collections and on farm
collections will be undertaken on an assessed needs basis as minimal thresholds to make
collections cost effective for the program. Agsafe, as the program managers, have
encouraged recycling processors to be innovative and promote their services (in addition to
Agsafe direct promotional funding provided through the programs) which will include on–
farm collections and remote runs to collect containers.
Access to the ChemClear program, especially the need to pay for the disposal of Group 2
(namely unregistered chemical products) has been raised on a number of occasions.
AgStewardship Australia has previously advised and it is made clear to end‐users seeking to
register Group 2 chemicals that there is a cost. Encouraging end‐users to use all Group 1
products prior to expiration of the product has been a focus of promotions.
The amount of Group 2 product collected in the past five years was 130,529 kilograms, with
the total since inception of 313,210 kilograms.
In respect of access to Group 1 disposal of chemicals AgStewardship Australia notes that
increased participation in the programs (now 116 participants) allows for more access to
end‐users for the free disposal of Group 1 chemicals. In the past five years ChemClear has
collected 140,900 kilograms of Group 1 product and since 2004, inception, 342,650
kilograms.
The total of Group 1 and 2 products collected in the past five years was 271,429 kilograms
which is consistent with the previous five year period.
AgStewardship Australia submits that these figures provide evidence to the effect that the
ChemClear program remains relevant and accessible.
12.

Contact details of relevant market participants
See Appendix 2

13

Additional information
Provide any other information or documents you consider relevant to the ACCC’s
assessment of the proposed application
See Attached Submission in support of the revocation of ACCC authorisation A91382 and
substitution of a replacement authorisation by AgStewardship Australia Limited
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14

Declaration by Applicant

The undersigned declares that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information given in
response to questions in this form is true, correct and complete, that complete copies of documents
required by this form have been supplied, that all estimates are identified as such and their best
estimates of the underlying facts and that all the opinions expressed are sincere.

The undersigned undertakes to advise the ACCC immediately of any material change in
circumstances relation to the application.

The undersigned is aware of the provisions of sections 137.1 and 149.1 of the Criminal Code (Cth).

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Signature of authorised person
Bruce Papps
Chair AgStewardship Australia Limited
This

16

day of

August

2018
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APPENDIX 1
Participants in the Programs as at 22 July 2018
Agstewardship Australia Limited (applicant)
ACN 133 108 853
8 Geils Court DEAKIN ACT 2600
Contact: Mr Bruce Papps (Chairman)
Telephone: 02 61622639
admin@agstewardshipaustralia.org.au;
The members of AgStewardship Australia
 CropLife Australia Limited
ACN 008 579 048
40 Macquarie Street BARTON ACT 2600
Telephone: 02 62732733
Email: brad.williams@croplife.org.au;
 Animal Medicines Australia Limited (formerly Animal Health Alliance (Australia)
Limited
ACN 116 948 344
18 National Circuit BARTON ACT 2600
Telephone: 02 62579022
Email: ben.stapley@animalmedicinesaustralia.org.au;
 National Farmers’ Federation Limited
ACN 097 140 166
14 Brisbane Avenue BARTON ACT 2600
Telephone: 02 62695666
Email: mharveysutton@nff.org.au
 The Veterinary Manufacturers and Distributors Association Limited
ACN 124 689 103
2 Highland Drive BOWRAL NSW 2576
Telephone: 0447715755
Email: jdadams124@gmail.com
Agsafe Limited performs the service delivery of the programs



Agsafe Limited
ACN 057 112 062
40 Macquarie Street BARTON ACT 2600
Telephone: 02 62066888
Email: dominique.doyle@agsafe.org.au;
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PARTICIPANTS IN THE PROGRAMS AS AT 22 JULY 2018
Name
4 Farmers Pty Ltd
Accensi Pty Ltd
Activ8H2O
Adama Australia Pty Ltd
AGAS Rural
AgBiTech Australia Pty Ltd
AgNova Technologies
Agrichem Australia
Agricrop Pty Ltd
Agro‐Alliance (Australia) Pty Ltd
Agrobest Australia Pty Ltd
Agsure‐ Elders Limited
Amgrow Pty Ltd
Apparent Pty Ltd‐Agrichem Manufacturing Industries
Arysta Lifescience Australia Pty Ltd
Australian Adjuvants Pty Ltd
Australian Agricultural Chemicals Pty Ltd
Australis Crop Protection Pty Ltd
Axichem Pty Ltd
Bailey's Fertiliser Pty Ltd
Barmac Pty Ltd
BASF Australia Ltd
Bayer Australia Ltd (Animal Health)
Bayer Crop Science Pty Ltd
Becker Underwood Australia
BioActive Soil Solutions Pty Ltd
Biofilm Crop Protection Pty Ltd
Biogrow Australia Pty Ltd
Biomac Pty Ltd
BioStart Brands Pty Ltd
Caltex Australia Petroleum Pty Ltd
Campbell's Fertilisers Australasia Pty Ltd
Chemetall (Australasia) Pty Ltd
Chemical Systems Australia
Cheminova Australia Pty Ltd
Chemvet Australia Pty Ltd
Colin Campbell (Chemicals) Pty Ltd
Conquest Crop Protection Pty Ltd
Crop Care Australasia Pty Ltd

Phone
Email
08 9356 3445 admin@4farmers.com.au
07 3897 2000

Address
35 McDowell Street
PO Box 596
27 Chirnside Drive
02 9431 7800 ausinfo@adama.com
PO Box 302
08 8347 3838 info@sarural.com
24 Chamberlain Street
1800 242 519
PO Box 18281, Clifton Gardens
03 9840 2333 info@agnova.com.au
PO Box 2069
07 3451 0000 customerservice@agrichem.com.au
PO Box 6127
07 3348 4113 sales@agricrop.com.au
PO Box 5284
03 8644 2677 info@agroalliance.com.au
2 Mavron Street
07 5596 0622
9 Palings Court
08 8425 4000
GPO Box 551
1800 631 008
PO Box 6390
03 9822 1321
PO Box 3092, Cotham PO
PO Box 6505
03 9369 4333
5‐7 Maria Street
07 3806 5733 aac@aussie‐ag.com.au
Unit 1, 3972 Pacific Highway
07 6792 5388
PO Box 7127
08 9302 4666 admin@axichem.com.au
18 Conquest Way
08 9439 1688 info@baileysfertiliser.com.au
PO Box 261
07 3802 5050 sales@barmac.com.au
82 Christensen Road
03 8855 6600 reception‐au@basf.com
GPO Box 4705
02 9391 6000
PO Box 903
03 9248 6888
Level1,8 Redfern Road
1800 558 399
RMB 1084 Pacific Highway
1800 112 779
Factory 1, 6‐8 Kelvin Road
07 4132 5000
Locked Bag 3901
03 8847 3888 info@biogrow.com.au
Suite 6/241 Blackburn Road
biomac@internode.on.net
Paech Drive
02 6760 7357
216 Lake Road
08 9431 9565
PO Box 21
03 9931 2211
18 Raymond Rd
03 9729 6253
17 Turbo Drive
02 4967 6155
PO Box 270
customerservice.AU@cheminova.com PO Box R369
03 9645 3543
1/8 Rocklea Drive
02 9725 2544 ramsay@campbellchemicals.com.au
PO Box 6789
08 9347 0500 enquiry@conquestag.com.au
PO Box 1540
07 3909 2000
77 Tingira Street
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Suburb
WELSHPOOL
BURPENGARY
Chirnside Park
ST LEONARDS
WINGFIELD
Toowoomba
BOX HILL NORTH
Yatala
MANLY
ASHWOOD
NERANG
Adelaide
SILVERWATER
KEW
ADELAIDE
Laverton North
LOGANHOLME
EAST BRISBANE
Wangara
Rockingham
Stapylton
MELBOURNE
PYMBLE
East Hawthorn
SOMERSBY
Bayswater North
Bundaberg
Mount Waverley
Hahndorf
Takapuna, Aukland
Balaclava
Laverton Nth
Bayswater North
Waratah
ROYAL EXCHANGE
PORT MELBOURNE
WETHERILL PARK
OSBORNE PARK
PINKENBA

State PostCode
WA
6106
QLD
4505
VIC
3116
NSW
1590
SA
5013
QLD
4350
VIC
3129
QLD
4207
QLD
4179
VIC
3147
QLD
4211
SA
5001
NSW
1811
VIC
3101
SA
5000
VIC
3026
QLD
4129
QLD
4169
WA
6065
WA
6988
QLD
4207
VIC
3001
NSW
2073
VIC
3123
NSW
2250
VIC
3153
QLD
4670
VIC
3149
SA
5245
ACT
622
VIC
3183
VIC
3026
VIC
3153
NSW
2298
NSW
1225
VIC
3207
NSW
2164
WA
6916
QLD
4008
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Name
Crop Smart Pty Ltd
DASCO Pty Ltd
David Gray & Co Pty Ltd
Debenham Australia Pty Ltd
Delaval Pty Ltd
Dow AgroSciences Australia Limited
DuPont Australia Ltd
eChem (Australia) Pty Ltd
Ecokem Pty Ltd
Elanco Australasia Pty Ltd
Ensystex Australiasia Pty Ltd
Ezycrop Pty Ltd
Farmalinx Pty Ltd
FMC Crop Protection Pty Ltd
Globe Growing Solutions
Granular Products Pty Ltd
Grochem AU Pty Ltd
Grow Choice Pty Ltd
Hextar Chemicals Pty Ltd
Hi‐Tech Ag Solutions Pty Ltd
Huilong Agrochemicals Australia Pty Ltd
ICL Specialty Fertilisers
Inverell Ag Pty Ltd
Jurox Pty Ltd
Kendon Chemical & MNFG. CO.Pty Ltd
Kenso Agcare Pty Ltd
Landmark Operations
LawrieCo Pty Ltd
Macrofertil (a division of Louis Dreyfus Commodities)
Macspred Australia Pty Ltd
Melpat International Pty Ltd
Merial Australia Pty Ltd
Monsanto Australia Ltd
MSD Animal Health (Merek)
Multicrop (Aust.) Pty Ltd
Novartis Animal Health Australasia Pty Ltd
NOWA Australia Fire & Rescue
Nufarm Limited
Nutrian Pty Ltd

Phone
1300 783 481
03 9459 7004
08 9337 4933
03 5662 5317
03 8336 7977
02 9776 3401
02 9923 6111
1300 781 649
03 9729 6010
02 9878 7777
13 35 36
03 9863 8168
02 9389 2466
1800 066 355
02 6362 8200
1800 777 068
02 6766 3979
03 9225 5468
08 9725 7322
03 5382 1982
02 8801 3300
02 6760 3030
02 4931 8200
03 9497 2822
07 3217 9788
02 9889 5400
08 8260 1134
08 8359 7325
07 3274 3443
08 9312 3200
02 8875 8600
03 9522 7122
1800 033 461
03 8720 2100
02 9805 3555
08 8380 9976
03 9282 1000
08 9384 9046

Email
admin@cropsmart.com.au
general@davidgray.com.au
aucustomer@delaval.com

info@ecokem.com.au
info@ensystex.com.au
info@farmalinx.com.au

george@grochem.co.nz
hextar@hextar.com
sales@hitechag.com.au
info@huilongag.com.au
info.ANZ@everris.com

info@kenso.com.au
info@lawrieco.com.au
qld@macspred.com.au

enquiries@multicrop.com.au
mdraganoff@aol.com
enquiry@nutrian.com.au
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Address
28 Diagonal Rd
PO Box 5022
PO Box 2084
PO Box 187 (Compass Arcade)
PO Box 1410
Level 5, 20 Rodborough Road
Locked Bag 2067
PO Box 1005
PO Box 4774
112 Wharf Road
547, Brush Creek Road
1402/1 Queens Road
PO Box 1960
5 Palmer Place
11 Nevin Close
PO Box 7036
PO Box 3340
113 Fitzroy Street
L 50, 120 Collins Street
PO Box 5351
4 Ballard Street
Suite 211, 33 Lexington Drive
1 Swan Street
85 Gardiner Street
PO Box 160
3C / 59 Oxford Street
Suite 2 Level 3,64 Talavera Road
2A Capelli Road
Locked Bag 10
PO Box 39
4/22 Parry Avenue
Locked Bag 2227
PO Box 6051St Kilda Road Central
PO Box 2800
6‐10 Koornong Road
Locked Bag 2003
PO Box 52
103 ‐ 105 Pipe Road
PO Box 470

Suburb
Pooraka r
HEIDLEBERG HEIGHTS
PALMYRA
LEONGATHA
Tullamarine
FRENCHS FOREST
NORTH RYDE BC
Indooroopilly
KNOX CITY CENTRE
WEST RYDE
CEDAR BRUSH CREEK
Melbourne
Bondi Junction
Murarrie
Gateshead
ORANGE
Burnley North
TAMWORTH
MELBOURNE
DAVENPORT‐BUNBURY
Horsham
Bella Vista
INVERELL
RUTHERFORD
NORTHCOTE
Bulimba
MACQUARIE PARK
Wingfield
North Fremantle
ACHERFIELD
Bateman
North Ryde BC
ST KILDA
BENDIGO DC
Scoresby
NORTH RYDE
Virginia
LAVERTON NORTH
MELVILLE

State PostCode
SA
5095
VIC
3081
WA
6961
VIC
3953
VIC
3043
NSW
2086
NSW
1670
QLD
4068
VIC
3152
NSW
2114
NSW
2259
VIC
3004
NSW
1355
QLD
4172
NSW
2290
NSW
2800
VIC
3121
NSW
2340
VIC
3000
WA
6230
VIC
3400
NSW
2153
NSW
2360
NSW
2320
VIC
3070
QLD
4171
NSW
2113
SA
5013
WA
6159
QLD
4108
WA
6150
NSW
1670
VIC
3004
VIC
3554
VIC
3179
NSW
2113
SA
5120
VIC
3026
WA
6956
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Name
Nutrihealth International
Organic Crop Protectants Pty Ltd
OzCrop Pty Ltd
Pacific Agriscience Pty Ltd
PCT International Pty Ltd
Pestech Australia Pty Ltd
Pfizer Animal Health Pty Ltd
Profeng Australia Pty Ltd
Proterra Pty Ltd
Redox Pty Ltd
Relyon Australia Pty Ltd
Sacoa Pty Ltd
Sanonda (Australia) Pty Ltd
Sherwood Chemicals Australasia
Sinochem Australia
Sinon Australia Pty Ltd
Sipcam Pacific Australia Pty Ltd
Specialist Sales Pty Ltd (also T/a Animal Health Direct)
Spraygro Liquid Fertilizers
SST Australia Pty Ltd
Stoller Australia Pty Ltd
Sumitomo Chemical Australia Pty Ltd
Superway Garden A G & Pest Products Pty Ltd
Sustainable Farming Solutions
Sustainable Liquid Technology Pty Ltd
Sylvan Australia
Syngenta Crop Protection Pty Limited
The Hunter River Company Pty Ltd
Titan Ag Pty Ltd
United Phosphorus Ltd Australia
Victorian Chemicals Company Pty Ltd
Virbac (Australia) Pty Limited
Wesfarmers CSBP Limited
WSD Agribusiness
Yara Australia Pty Ltd
Zagro Australia
Zelam Pty Ltd
Zoetis Australia Pty Ltd

Phone
02 6020 9676
02 9599 8767
02 8199 3610
02 3952 6998
07 3711 7022
1800 123 457
02 9850 3333

Email
enquiries@nutrisoil.com.au
info@ocp.com.au
cs@pacificagriscience.com

info@profeng.com.au
07 3289 5266
02 9733 3000
02 9952 6547
08 9386 7666
03 9863 8081
08 9219 4683
03 9520 8888
03 5441 8907
03 5223 3746
1800 780 317
08 8447 7266
03 9720 6306
08 8169 0900
02 9904 6499
07 5439 0355
08 9388 3623
03 5859 1323
02 4572 0555
02 8876 8444
02 9499 7370
02 9999 6655
02 9460 8480
03 9301 7000
02 9772 9772
08 9411 8426
08 9321 2888
02 9959 4266
1800 144 884
03 9338 3262
1800 963 847

sacoa@sacoa.com.au
email@sanondaoz.com
contact@sherwoodchemicals.com.au
info.australia@sinochem.com
info@sinon.com.au

spraygro@spraygro.com.au
info@sstaustralia.com
stoller@stoller.com.au
superway@superwaygarden.com
admin@sustainablefarming.com.au

admin.aus@uniphos.com

CSBP‐Cust‐Service@csbp.com.au
contact@wsdagribusiness.com.au
markalbrecht@zagro.com
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Address
PO Box 1610
Unit 1/61 Turrella St
PO Box 2156
Level 5 Nexus Norwest, 4 Columbia Court
PO Box 6078
Unit 7 14‐28 Ivan Street
PO Box 57
Suite2, 321 Chapel Street
35 Oak River Road
Locked Bag No. 15
Level 5, Building A, 26 Talavera Road
PO Box 469
Suite 822, St Kilda Road Towers, 1 Queens Road
Level 3, 1060 Hay Street
PO Box 6132
PO Box 456
Level 1, 191 Malop Street
PO Box 382
PO Box 494
PO Box 2032, Bayswater Village
1 Creswell Road
PO Box 60
PO Box 183
PO Box 419
PO Box 43
PO Box 646
PO Box 886
PO Box 531
PO Box 677
PO Box 8150
83 Maffra Street
Locked Bag 6000
PO Box 345
17 Rheola Street
6 Holt Street
PO Box 843
3 Bayview Avenue
PO Box 548

Suburb
WODONGA
Turrella
Bondi Junction
Baulkam Hills
ACACIA RIDGE DC
ARUNDEL
WEST RYDE
PRAHRAN
DRAPER
MINTO
Macquarie Park
CLAREMONT
MELBOURNE
WEST PERTH
St. Kilda Road Central
Golden Square
GEELONG
Toowoomba
PORT ADELAIDE
BAYSWATER
Largs Bay
Epping
BEERWAH
Cottesloe
TONGALA
WINDSOR
NORTH RYDE
Roseville
ST IVES
Baulkham Hills BC
COOLAROO
MILPERRA DC
KWINANA
WEST PERTH
NORTH SYDNEY
Bendigo
Aspendale
West Ryde

State PostCode
VIC
3689
NSW
2205
NSW
1355
NSW
2153
QLD
4110
QLD
4214
NSW
2114
VIC
3181
QLD
4520
NSW
2566
NSW
2113
WA
6910
VIC
3004
WA
6005
VIC
8008
VIC
3555
VIC
3220
QLD
4350
SA
5015
VIC
3153
SA
5016
NSW
1710
QLD
4519
WA
6911
VIC
3621
NSW
2756
NSW
2113
NSW
2069
NSW
2075
NSW
2153
VIC
3048
NSW
1891
WA
6966
WA
6005
NSW
2060
VIC
3552
VIC
3195
NSW
2114
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Appendix 2
Contact details of relevant market participants
Organisation
Safework Australia
Department of Environment and Energy
NSW Environment protection Authority
NSW FARMERS
NSW Local Government Association
Nursery and Garden Industry Australia Limited
Grain Growers Limited
Grain Producers Australia
Aerial Agriculture Association of Australia
National Farmers Federaion
CropLife Australia Limited
Animal Medicines Australia Ltd
Environment Protection Authority WA
Growcom
Environment Protection Authority South Australia
Environment Protection Authority Victoria
Department Environment, Land, Water & Planning (Vic)
Victorian Farmers Federation
AUSVEG
Australian Dairy Farmers
Sustrainability Victoria
Northern Territory EPA
Grain Producers South Australia
Dept Environment and Protection Queensland
Australian Local Government Association
Agforce Qld
WA Farmers Federation
Green Industries South Australia
Qld Farmers Federation
Western Australia Local Government Association
PMA Australia
Apple and Pear Australia
Cotton Australia
Rice Growers Australia
Municipal Association of Victoria
Agribusiness Australia
EPA Tas

Primary Contact
Ms Michelle Baxter CEO
Mr Peter Brisbane
Mr Peter Lawson Manager
Mr Robert Hardie
Ms Susy Cedenese Strategy Manager
Mr Peter Vaughan CEO
Mr Ashely Cooper
Mr Andrew Weidemann
Mr Mark Harvey‐Sutton
Mr Matthew Cossey
Mr Ben Stapley
Ms Rachel McKenzie
Ms Kerryn Suthern
Dr Cathy Wilkinson
Ms Dominik Nicolls
Mr Alister Boyd ‐ Grain Manager
Mr James Whitesite CEO
Mr David Inall
Mr Stan Krpan CEO
Ms Caroline Rhodes CEO
Ms Kylie Hughes
Ms Roz Chivers Executive Director
Ms Marie Vitelli
Mr Trent Kensett‐Smith
Mr Vaughan Levitzke
Mr Travis Tobin CEO
Ms Rebecca Brown Manager
Mr Darren Keating CEO
Mr Phil Turnbull CEO
Mr Adam Kay CEO
Mr Graeme Kruger
Ms Claire Dunn Manager
Mr Tim Burrow CEO
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Email
info@swa.gov.au
wastepolicy@environment.gov.au
Peter.Lawson@epa.nsw.gov.au
hardier@nswfarmers.org.au
Susy.cenedese@lgnsw.org.au
info@ngia.com.au
admin@grainproducers.com.au
andrew.weidemann@grainproducers.com.au
admin@aerialag.com.au
mharveysutton@nff.org.au
matthew.cossey@croplife.org.au
ben.stapley@animalmedicinesaustralia.org.au;
info.epa@dwer.wa.gov.au
rmackenzie@growcom.com.au
kerryn.suthern@sa.gov.au
cathy.wilkinson@epa.vic.au
dominik.nicholls@sustainability.vic.gov.au
aboyd@vff.org.au
james.whiteside@ausveg.com.au;
reception@australiandairyfarmers.com.au
Stan.krpan@sustainability.vic.gov.au
ntepa@nt.gov.au
caroline@grainproducers.com.au
kylie.hughes@des.qld.gov.au
rosyln.chivers@alga.asn.au
Marie.Vitelli@agforceqld.org.au
reception@wafarmers.org.au
bernadette.gersbach@sa.gov.au
qfarmers@qff.org.au
waste@walga.asn.au
d.keating@pma‐anz.com
phil@apal.org.au
talktous@cotton.org.au
rga@rga.org.au
CDunn@mav.asn.au
tim.burrow@agribusiness.asn.au
Enquiries@epa.tas.gov.au
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Submission in support of the
revocation of ACCC authorisation
A91382 and substitution of a
replacement authorisation
by AgStewardship Australia Limited

August 2018

Submission in support of the revocation of ACCC authorisation A91382 and substitution of a
replacement authorisation by AgStewardship Australia Limited
Background
AgStewardship Australia (AgStewardship) was established in October 2008 to put into effect a new
governance structure whereby AgStewardship became the fund holding body for the levies raised
for the drumMUSTER and ChemClear programs.
The program management for drumMUSTER and ChemClear was contracted out to Agsafe Limited,
which previously held both roles of fund holder and program manager.
The program drumMUSTER has been operating since 1999, the ChemClear program since 2004.
AgStewardship Australia’s main objectives provide for:
 The company to continue and develop an agricultural and veterinary waste reduction
scheme for the avoidance, reduction, recycling and responsible disposal of crop protection
and animal health products and containers;
 The company to manage and administer levies collected from the sale of agvet containers
and to ensure that such levies are used only for the purposes of the drumMUSTER and
ChemClear programs.
The members of the AgStewardship Australia currently are:
 CropLife Australia Limited
 Animal Medicines Australia Limited
 National Farmers federation Ltd
 The Veterinary Manufacturers and Distributors Association Ltd
Australian Local Government Association remained a member of the company until February 2015
when it withdrew from direct membership of the company but continues to support the programs’
objectives.
The Directors of the Company are as follows:
Bruce Papps – Chair
Damien Ryan ‐ Managing Director Sipcam Pacific Australia Limited
Andrew Mason ‐ Head of Commercial Operations ANZ Animal Health Bayer
Fiona Simson ‐ President National Farmers Federation and primary producer
Jim Adams ‐ President and Executive Director the Veterinary Manufacturers & Distributors
Association (VMDA)
The Board brings together a number of experienced senior industry figures who have a passion to
ensure that a successful outcome can be achieved that satisfies both the needs of direct
stakeholders but also the general public and community interests in protecting and enhancing the
environment. (See Annexure B on Board expertise, and Annexure F for the AgStewardship
Constitution)
A schematic representation of the key stakeholder relations has been outlined at Annexure C.
Agsafe was established in 1993 as an industry‐led not for profit organisation following a
commitment to product stewardship by the Board of Agricultural and Veterinary Chemical
Association (now CropLife Australia).
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Agsafe employs a dedicated team of 8 Regional Consultants specifically to liaise with end users of
agvet chemicals, councils and community groups (who are responsible for the inspection and
collection of containers at landfill sites and transfer stations) as well as working with recycling
companies to ensure proper and safe processing and transportation of the recycled material. These
consultants are also responsible for managing aspects of the ChemClear program through addressing
matters including eligibility of agvet chemicals for the program and liaising with end users at the
time of collection.
Agsafe also employs an industry liaison and compliance manager, and a program manager, in
addition to administrative and communications team members and the Agsafe General Manager
whose role is to report, liaise and provide advice to AgStewardship on operational matters, financial
and budget management and industry trends.
The current agreement for the management of the programs between AgStewardship Australia and
Agsafe Limited is attached at Annexure E and sets out the roles and responsibilities of Agsafe in the
delivery of the programs.
AgStewardship Australia is applying to the ACCC to revoke current authorisation A91382 and for the
substitution of a new authorisation for anti‐competitive conduct arising from the programs for a
further period of five years with effect from the expiration of the current authorisation namely for
five years from 20 February 2019.
The current Authorisation A91382 grants AgStewardship the authority on behalf of its members,
Agsafe Limited and current and future participants in the programs to impose a levy of 4 cents per
litre/kilogram on the sale of agvet chemicals.
Rather than have schemes developed and regulation by government imposed on industry, the
initiative to establish stewardship programs for the industry was taken by both manufacturers,
distributors and primary producers under the auspices of their industry associations (that is, the
members of AgStewardship Australia).
Reviewing the outcomes and achievements of the programs remains a constant consideration to all
stakeholders. 2008 this saw the establishment of AgStewardship Australia in the governance role as
fund holder on behalf of all of industry. Operational responsibilities for the programs have been
managed by Agsafe since the beginning of both programs.
In a critical analysis of the programs, the continued operations and funding position and future
prospects were closely examined. It has become clear that an increase in levy is required to meet
key objectives, including increased return rates on chemical containers and where necessary,
additional collections for ChemClear eligible products.
The quantum of levies each year has remained static but costs continue to rise. The eligible
container market for agvet chemicals has plateaued, based on the levy declarations provided by
program participants. The growth in the market has been in smaller container sizes and in 1,000 litre
intermediate bulk carriers (also known as IBCs or shuttles).

Supporting A91382 Revocation and Replacement ‐ AgStewardship

3|Page

In 2011‐12 the program was collecting 55% of eligible containers that entered the market that year
and has been steadily declining each year. In 2016‐17 eligible containers collected was at 48%
(approx. 2 million containers). The levy increase will allow for a targeted increase in collection of 2.4
million containers or 58% of eligible containers:

Research on the container market
Profile of liquid single trip containers
Size container
2011
2017 % Change
1 596432 579528
‐2.8
2‐4
104822 182188
73.8
5 987888 1081599
9.5
10‐15 1040250 1437234
38.2
20 3635608 3701821
1.8
25
25309
39153
54.7
32893
23704
‐27.9
100‐120
200‐220
33572
16900
‐49.7
1000
14623
16582
13.4
Note: all products produced for total markets including the agchem market
The significant trends in the market for single trip containers indicate a 38% growth in the number of
in pack sizes of 10‐15 litre/kg. Advice received from Agsafe and from manufacturers indicates that
this is due in part to a continuation of the trend for increased concentrations in the formulation of
and new formulations of certain agvet chemicals allow for smaller pack sizes. Similar conclusions can
be drawn from the increase of 73.8% in the number of 2‐4 litre containers entering the supply chain.
As inspection and processing costs are currently based on a per‐unit cost, this is leading to further
pressures on the cost of collections for the drumMUSTER program.
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Liquid Formulations in Single Trip IBC and SVR Containers
Container size
2011
1000 L Schutz IBC Recoverable
20151
1000L & 500 L IBC Returnables
32485
1000 L IBC Single Trip
14623
Percentage Single Trip
21.70%
200 L SVR Returnable
477
200‐255 L Single Trip
33477
Percentage Single Trip
98.60%
100‐110 SVR Schutz Recoverable
12525
100‐120 L SVR Returnable
44606
100‐120 SVR Single Trip
32882
Percentage Single Trip
26.60%

2016‐17
101370
34808
16582
10.90%
13729
16900
55.20%
238872
147498
23704
5.80%

Whilst IBCs do not form part of the two programs the increased uptake of these containers has
presented challenges to the end‐users. The adoption of the Schutz return system by end‐users for
IBCs for containers above 100 litres (SVRs – small volume refillable containers) has been prevalent in
all states. End‐users need to be continually encouraged to purchase products where there is a return
system offered for those containers as is the case with Schutz containers.

Communications and engagement with end‐users
While the program in its current form has been operating since 1998, and community knowledge of
the program and engagement is high, there will be a need to reassess the forms of communications
to rural communities. The maturity of community engagement has plateaued and there will be a
need to connect with and reinvigorate primary producers as to the value of the programs. This is a
constant challenge. Technology rather than free‐to‐air forms of media will increasingly be utilised to
communicate with end users; additional funds from levy collections will need to be utilised to fund
these new initiatives and activities.
New authorisation application
AgStewardship Australia is seeking to increase the quantum of the levy imposed from 4 cents per
litre/kilogram to 6 cents per litre/kilogram.
The current levy of 4 cents per litre/kilogram has been in place since the inception of the
drumMUSTER program and the levy has also been utilised since 2004 to support the ChemClear
program.
AgStewardship Australia is not proposing any further changes in respect of the coverage of the
program or the eligibility of the containers that are subject to the levy.
Reasons for seeking approval to change the levy
It is clearly evident, in the view of the AgStewardship Board that the current level of levy is
unsustainable on the following basis:
 The cost of drumMUSTER which includes administering the program, the ground operations
of inspecting and processing containers, promoting the programs to end‐users and program
management is estimated to be $1.41‐ $1.50 per 20 litre container. The cost for the
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collection and processing of smaller containers also has high fixed costs due to the costs of
inspection and processing being based on a fixed cost per unit not by container size.
32,052,351 containers have been collected at what is a subsidised cost over and above the
levy paid. This has only been possible due to collection rates being lower than or equal to
50% of containers sold in the market.
Costs for the disposal of chemicals collected through the ChemClear program have increased
considerably over the past years and the program is likely to face higher charges due both to
the nature of the chemicals and the varying disposal costs based on the chemistry of the
agvet product. ChemClear Group 1 collections continue to be paid out of the 4 cent levy.
Factoring in remote collections for both programs will be at an extremely high unit cost if
undertaken and at current levy levels cannot be economically justified
At current levels of activity generated from the programs, the company is likely to
experience pressure on its reserves within the next 3 to 4 years and will likely not be
sustainable.
Initiatives that would lead to both higher collection rates for containers and additional
collections of chemicals under ChemClear cannot be contemplated, based on our future
financial projections
There is a concern that prices paid for the sale of high quality, clean HDPE material will
continue to face downward pressures due to changes in the recycling market caused by
external factors which is affecting any council or company involved in the waste recycling
industry. Cost increases to support the continuation of the collection of recycled materials
by processors are already being paid currently by local government authorities due to the
collapse of some of the recycling market.
Without the ability to remove agvet containers from the system could mean large stockpiles
of containers are held in drumMUSTER compounds, but as of the same importance a return
to behaviours that will cause environmental damage and pressures on landfill.
Much of the infrastructure built to house containers is reaching the stage where
considerable investment needs to be made both in refurbishing the cages, provide better
security for the containers held to reduce contaminated containers being mixed with clean
containers, and to provide for segregation of containers by plastic type where necessary.
Dedicated funds need to be directed to research on changes in container design and
suitability for recycling, and to assist recyclers to source new markets both for existing
material and new plastics. Preliminary studies have already been undertaken by Agsafe but
further investigation and understanding of the impact need to be addressed over the next
few years.
New methods including specialised applications (apps) to better collect accurate data from
collection agencies. Currently there are long lag times in data provided to Agsafe which is
both inefficient in getting proper and timely information on collection numbers and in
processing of claims from collection agencies.
Finance new collection and storage and inspection initiatives in areas identified where there
may be gaps in the collection system for containers with the reseller and distribution
network
Increased spending to promote the programs including redesigned websites, higher
utilisation of social media and more targeted approach to managing collection campaigns for
both programs in addition to use of conventional media.
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Statutory Accounts for AgStewardship Australia
The statutory accounts for AgStewardship Australia for 2014‐15, 2015‐16, and 2016‐17 are provided
as Annexure D. Once completed and adopted by the company the 2017‐18 statutory accounts will
be forwarded to the ACCC.
Reason for the Programs
As has been stated in previous applications to the ACCC, the programs exist to address a market
failure in the management of waste from agvet chemicals, both containers generated from the use
of the chemicals and also from chemicals that have not been used and allowed to accumulate on
farm. The environmental and public safety cost that arises from the waste generated is borne
beyond those using the chemicals and is not otherwise reflected in the market price of the products.
Various governments have chosen to intervene in the waste reduction and recycling through
container deposit schemes and others including e‐waste programs for television and computer
recycling programs through mandated levies. The success of the programs, particularly
drumMUSTER has been due to industry establishing a voluntary and self‐regulatory scheme which
has 113 participants (105 in 2013) and the partnership of manufacturers, distributors, primary
producers and local government to address issues that the market currently cannot and which there
is little push to alter what are successful stewardship programs that have been recognised
internationally.
Public benefit arguments summary
The application submitted for consideration by ACCC at question 10 provided further detail of public
benefits from the programs. AgStewardship has presented the public benefits of the programs in its
2008 and 2013 applications for authorisation. There has been no change in the market place and
without the programs and there would be no industry‐led mechanism for the safe and
environmentally sound collection of the relevant containers and unwanted chemicals.
The continued pressure on local government authorities to manage the use of landfill sites, reduce
their use, remove materials that can be recycled are assisted by programs funded by the levy.
Without the programs there are no market driven systems as a ready replacement to the programs,
rather there is likely to be both a time gap in responding to the programs ceasing and an ad‐hoc
system where only major areas where containers accumulate in large numbers being serviced by
recyclers.
This will increase the prospects of a return to previous bad behaviours including dumping both on
private land and public spaces, burning and burying and diversion to landfill rather than a diversion
from landfill.
Similarly the disposal of Group 1 chemicals through the ChemClear program would become an
added cost to end‐users to dispose of compared to a system where there is no additional cost apart
from having paid levies on eligible product. Again there is a risk of environmental damage from
indiscriminate disposal of chemicals.
The safe disposal of Group 2 agvet chemicals via the program offers end users the opportunity at a
cost that is competitive to ensure these chemicals are removed from farms and no longer are a risk
to the environment.
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The results from ChemClear since 2004 has seen the removal of over 347,600 litres of unwanted
Group 1 chemicals, 313,415 litres of Group 2 obsolete chemicals, a total of over 661,000 litres of
agvet chemicals removed from the farming systems.
The net result of the drumMUSTER program is that over 32 million containers have been diverted
from landfill, some 36,834 tonne of material.
Additional key data for the programs drumMUSTER and ChemClear is included at Annexure A
Consequences of non‐authorisation
In its application to the ACCC in August 2013 AgStewardship Australia outlined the consequences of
non‐authorisation.
For completeness these are outlined as follows:
 Without authorisation, AgStewardship Australia would lose its immunity under the
Competition and Consumer Act 2010. Participants in the programs would similarly lose
immunity.
 There are no programs in place that assist end‐users of agvet chemicals in the manner or the
same coverage of the programs. As a result, agvet chemical users would be required to fund
and arrange their own disposal of agvet containers.
 In such a situation, considering the vast landmass of Australia, costs to individual end‐users
of disposal would quickly escalate to greater than the cost of the levy imposed currently and
proposed, and in many places be imply economically.
 In such a situation, the opportunity to participate in the cost effective and safe disposal of
agvet containers would be lost, and it is likely the past practices of stockpiling, disposing in
landfill, burying and even burning containers and/or hazardous chemicals would resume.
AgStewardship Australia would further submit that:
 Access to a free disposal of Group 1 agvet chemicals would be lost.
 Access to an effective disposal path for Group 2 agvet chemicals is likely to be no longer cost
effective for any commercial operator in that business.
Support
Testimonials in support of the programs are contained on the websites www.drummuster.com.au;
www.chemclear.com.au. The following are other examples of testimonials in support of the
programs:
IK Caldwell has been a long‐time supporter of the drumMUSTER program. Not only is it well accepted
and highly beneficial to the Australian farming sector, the ease of use and environmental benefits are
second to none.
We host an annual drumMUSTER collection at our Shepparton Site for local customers. Every year the
local farmers accumulate their empty drums and then bring them to our site for collection and
disposal. We offer a BBQ and coffee or tea is available while they wait to unload and have their
drums inspected. It is truly a community event getting bigger every year. This year we collected in
excess of 5,700 drums that will now be recycled into useful products instead of being burned or
buried, or even worse, discarded in the bush finding their way into our waterways.
The positive impact of drumMUSTER program on our local community is exceptional and we offer full
support for a levy increase to allow for greater collection efforts.

Supporting A91382 Revocation and Replacement ‐ AgStewardship
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David Jobling General Manager IK Caldwell

“I believe that the program provides benefits to our operation by offering a well‐coordinated disposal
path for our unwanted containers.
Another benefit is that the program keeps containers out of landfill and new that new products are
made from the recycled materials utilizing a valuable resource.
By using the program over a number of years it has assisted us in keeping our property clean as prior
to drumMUSTER landfill was our only option.”
Colin Bell Grain Farmer – Pilton Qld

The Western Downs Regional Council has been a long‐time partner in the drumMUSTER program. We
operate 14 active drumMUSTER collection sites and have collected in excess of 1 million eligible
drums since our first collection compound was constructed in March 2000.
The drumMUSTER program is an integral part of Western Downs Regional Councils waste
management and ensures that these drums are not burnt or buried.
Not only is drumMUSTER a respected and highly beneficial product stewardship program, the
benefits to the Queensland farming community are enormous.
The community and industry support for the program is widespread and the drums collected are
recycled into useful products. We strongly support a levy increase to allow for expansion of the
program and increased collection efforts.
Cr Paul McVeigh Mayor Western Downs Regional Council

Recognition of Product Stewardship
2015 Agrow Best Stewardship Programme: Agsafe drumMUSTER Finalist
2018 HortConnections Innovation Partner Award: drumMUSTER Finalist

Supplementary Information
Please refer to Annexure G for the supplementary information






Factsheet 1 – Agsafe Product Stewardship
Factsheet 2 – drumMUSTER Program
Factsheet 3 – ChemClear Program
Factsheet 4 – Disposal of AgVet Chemicals
Factsheet 5 – Simple Steps Rinsing Guidelines
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Conclusion
The Industry Reduction Waste Scheme was the basis for the establishment of AgStewardship
Australia as the fund holder and sets out clear aims for the programs drumMUSTER and ChemClear,
namely to reduce the number of non‐returnable containers and minimise the generation and
accumulation of unwanted chemicals.
The aims, whilst aspirational, continue to deliver for end‐users and for the environment.
The challenges remain to both continue to collect containers and unwanted chemicals and to
improve the performance of the programs by increasing collection rates for containers and removing
chemicals which in many cases in the past were disposed of inappropriately and to the detriment of
the broader public.
The levy rate currently applicable (4 cents per litre/kg) is not sufficient to enable continued viability
of the two programs let alone develop and improve the collections and return rates of containers
and also unwanted chemicals.
The public benefit of the two programs has been illustrated on many occasions in the various ACCC
deliberations and in the determinations given to the levy arrangements since 1999.
AgStewardship Australia submits that these public benefits remain relevant to this application.
An increase in the levy will not have a significant impact on the price that end users will pay for agvet
chemicals.
To not allow an increase in the levy applicable to the agvet container to 6 cents per litre/kg will see
the programs stagnate and risk the return rates on containers to fall significantly as the capacity to
pay for the inspection and collection and processing of containers will diminish over time and affect
the viability of both programs to operate.

Supporting A91382 Revocation and Replacement ‐ AgStewardship
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Annexure A
The statistics for the programs are summarised in the tables below:
KEY DATA FOR THE PROGRAMS drumMUSTER AND CHEMCLEAR
PACKAGING TO THE MARKET
Agsafe has continued to undertake surveys of participating companies to determine the amount of
agvet chemical packaging entering the market. The results and comparisons are outlined as follows:

TABLE 1
Share of Liquid Volume 2016‐17 – All
containers
Size Range (litres)
1‐5
10‐15
20
25‐120
200‐205
1000

By container size
(%)
2001
2011 2016‐17
5.4
5.1
5.4
5.7
9.4
12.15
77.5
63.4
62.28
1.3
3.6
2.97
9.7
5.8
2.82
0.2
12.7
13.83

The data indicates that 20 litre containers remain the largest source for liquid volume for the industry. Whilst
there is a move away from 200+ litre containers there has been an increase in smaller 10‐15 litre containers. This
is likely to lead to higher costs of collection and processing for the drumMUSTER program as the fixed costs for
these units is the same as those for larger containers.
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drumMUSTER AND CHEMCLEAR PERFORMANCE

TABLE 2
ACTIVE drumMUSTER SITES BY STATE
as at 23 July 2018

State
Australian Capital Territory
New South Wales
Northern Territory
Queensland
South Australia
Tasmania
Victoria
Western Australia

GRAND TOTAL

SITES
1
245
6
162
70
30
179
120

813



356 local government organisations 134 (89 in 2013) community groups and
other organisations
 52 peri‐urban sites included in the
813 sites (36 in 2013)
Since inception of the drumMUSTER program
 Signed up 490 collection agencies including 356 councils conducting collections
 Held 56,428 collections nationwide
32,052,351 containers collected equating to 36,834 tonnes of material
 2,150 inspector training courses to train 8,145 inspectors
(Currently 3,765 active)
Approved 24 processors to remove the collected material.

Supporting A91382 Revocation and Replacement ‐ AgStewardship
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drumMUSTER Collections

TABLE 3
Number of Drums by Collection Type 2013 to 2018 for Financial Year ending in
those years
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
Regional/Periodic
348,005
57,692
36,053
82,209
15,7035
150,301
Ongoing
1,564,320 1,745,003 1,786,680 1,659,723 1,501,261
1,294,291
On‐farm
201,784
184,920
177,281
231,981
285,366
257,970
Remote
0
0
0
0
Aerial Sprayers
34,154
48,113
34,593
51,927
81,232
61,387
2,148,263 2,035,728 2,034,607 2,025,840 2,024,894 1,763,949**
** Estimated final collection numbers for 2017/18 are forecast to be approximately 2,000,000 once
all collection data is received.

TOTAL DRUMS COLLECTED SINCE PROGRAM COMMENCEMENT 32,052,351
(actual)
ChemClear Collection Data since inception of Program
TABLE 4

Financial Year

Litre/Kg

Litre/kg

Litre/kg

Group 1

Group 2

Total

2003/04

2,673.00

918.69

3,591.69

2004/05

2,664.00

5,646.00

8,310.00

2005/06

31,408.00

9,366.37

40,774.37

2006/07

15,996.50

17,192.93

33,189.43

2007/08

13,046.34

19,284.02

32,330.36

2008/09

26,971.91

24,429.02

51,400.93

2009/10

34,802.40

29,204.78

64,007.18

2010/11

14,705.20

13,621.79

28,326.99

2011/12

34,192.00

42,790.38

76,982.38

2012/13

25,288.14

20,430.88

45,719.02

2013/14

25,274.70

13,642.51

38,917.21

2014/15

31,965.50

34,691.05

66,656.55

2015/16

30,605.90

19,629.43

50,235.33

2016/17

22,805.24

28,282.51

79,212.13

2017/18

30,225.35

34,285.45

52,974.80

2018/19

5,011.00
313,415.69

661,078.37

Totals

347,662.68
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Annexure B
Board of Directors and Expertise
Bruce Papps (Independent Chair)
As Independent Chair, Bruce Papps brings a wealth of governance, risk and financial management
experience to his role. He is a former Partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers. He has significant
experience in financial management, assurance, governance and risk management services in both
the public and private sectors. He sits on a number of Boards and Audit Committees. He is a qualified
member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, and is a graduate member of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Damien Ryan – Managing Director Sipcam Pacific Australia
Damien grew up on a mixed cropping and livestock farm in North East Victoria. After graduating
from LaTrobe University with a degree in Agricultural Economics he joined the ag‐chemical division
of ICI Australia (now Orica). Corporate sales and marketing positions in ICI and later Landmark led to
a desire to take on a more entrepreneurial challenge. After resigning from a senior executive
position in Landmark, Damien founded Sipcam Pacific Australia in 1997. Over the past 20 years
Sipcam has grown to become a Top 10 company in the Australian ag‐chemical market.
Damien is currently Vice President of CropLife Australia and was for many years Chairman of Agsafe.
He is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a Fellow of the CEO Institute of
Australia.
Andrew Mason – Head of Commercial Operations ANZ, Animal Health Bayer
Andrew started his career over 30 years ago in central Queensland as a jackeroo.
Today he leads Bayer Animal Health Australia and New Zealand businesses.
Andrew is also the Chair of Animal Medicines Australia and a director of Agribusiness Australia.
Fiona Simson ‐ Farmer and President National Farmers’ Federation
Fiona Simson lives and works with her family on “The Plantation”, a 5500 hectare mixed farming and
grazing property near Premer NSW on the western edge of the Liverpool Plains.
With tertiary and business education qualifications and skills, Fiona’s passion for local food
production and the growth and sustainability of rural and regional Australia led firstly to a career in
local government as an elected Councillor in Liverpool Plains Shire Council, and then her
appointment to the NSW Farmers Executive Council in 2008. In 2011 she became the first women
President of the Association, retaining that position for a full four year term.
Fiona was appointed a Director of the National Farmers’ Federation in 2011 and Vice President in
2014. Fiona was appointed President of the NFF in November 2016, and also sits on the Board of
NRMA, Australian Made Campaign Ltd and the Australian Farmers Fighting Fund.
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Jim Adams
Jim is President and Executive Director of the Veterinary Manufacturers and Distributors Association.
A founding member of the VMDA, Jim has worked in the veterinary pharmaceutical industry for
more than four decades. He has held executive management positions in wholesale distribution,
import and marketing, and manufacturing.

Jim sold his veterinary manufacturing business Delvet in 2010 and has maintained his involvement in
the animal health industry via the VMDA and his consulting business, liaising with government and
industry associations on regulatory and policy issues affecting farming and the animal health
community generally.
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Annexure C

Schematic Representation of Key Stakeholders

Annexure D

Statutory Accounts AgStewardship Australia Limited
2014‐15
2015‐16
2016‐17
2017‐18 – will be forwarded once finalised

Annexure E

AgStewardship Australia and Agsafe Limited Service Agreement
(Schedule 3 – Costs and Fees to be excluded from the public register)

Annexure F

Constitution AgStewardship Australia Limited

Annexure G

Supplementary Information ‐ Factsheets
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Auditor's Independence Declaration
As lead auditor for the audit of AgStewardship Australia Limited for the year ended 3o June
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a)
O)

zor7,I

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act zoot in
relation to the audit; and
no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

David Murphy

Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

PriceraqterhotseCoopersrABN 5z 7Ao 4SS 7Sz

z8 Sydney Auenue, FOKKEST ACT z6o9, GPO Box 447, CANBERRA CITY ACT z6ot
T: + 6t z 6z7t 3ooo, F: + 6t z 6z7t gggg,wwu.ptDocom.au
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Canberra

zo October zorT
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AGSTEWARDSHIP AUSTRALIA LIMITED ABN 41 133 108 853
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation
The AgStewardship Australia Limited (the Company) financial statements are general purpose financial
statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure
Requirements as issued by the Australia Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.
The entity is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements under Australian Accountig
Standards.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial
statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been
consistently applied unless stated otherwise.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been
rounded to the nearest dollar.
These financial statements were authorised for issue on 20 October 2017 by the Directors of the Company. The
Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
Accounting Policies
a)

Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.
Levy income is recognised in the statement of profit and loss when the entity obtains control of the levy and it is
probable that the economic benefits gained from the levy will flow to the entity and the amount can be measured
reliably. If conditions are attached to the levy which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the levy, the
recognition of the levy as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).
b)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to its estimated
recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if
the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when
impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(e) for details of impairment).
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight line basis over the asset’s useful life to the
entity commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. The depreciation rates used for each class of
asset are:
Class of Asset

Depreciation Rate

Computer Equipment

20-33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or
losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included
in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.
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To the members of AgStewardship Australia Limited

Our opinion
In our opinion:
The accompanying financial report of AgStewardship Australia Limited (the Company) is in
accordance with the Corporations Act zoot, including:

(a)

giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 30 June zorT and of its
financial performance for the year then ended

(b)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the
Corp or ations Re g ulations 2 o o 1.

Whatwehsue sudited.
The financial report comprises:

r
r
o
.
.
.

the statement of financial position as at 30 June zorT
the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies

thedirectors'declaration.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Audifo r's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
report section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

Ind.ependence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2oo-t and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board's APES rro Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of
this auditor's report comprises the Director's Report, but does not include the financial report and our
auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and
accordingly we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Annexure D, Part 1 of 3 - 30 June 2015 Financial Statements
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors

for

the

financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure
Requirements and Corporations Act zoot and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation ofthe financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions ofusers taken on the basis ofthe financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors-responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

David Murphy

Partner

Canberra

zo October zorT
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Annexure F AgStewardship Constitution

CORPORATIONS LAW
COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE
CONSTITUTION
OF
AGSTEWARDSHIP AUSTRALIA LIMITED.
ACN 133 108 853
PRELIMINARY

1.

INTRODUCTION

A.

The Company is registered under the Corporations Act 2001.

B.

The Members support the ongoing activities of the Company in the furtherance of the
Scheme.

C.

The Scheme was established by the Former MOU which the Members entered into in order
to record their cooperation in the development and operation of the Scheme and to
empower the Company, on behalf of the Members, to manage the Scheme.

D.

The Scheme includes two key activities designed to enhance the reduction, recycling and
responsible disposal of crop protection and on farm animal health Products and Containers,
as follows:
a)

drumMUSTER® is the Members’ national program for the collection, reuse, recycling
or disposal of empty, cleaned Containers; and

b)

ChemClear® is the national program for the collection of Products for disposal,
transport and storage of chemical waste and treatment of Products including
recycling and destruction.

E.

The integrity of the Scheme requires the participation of the Members and their member
organisations. The Members are united in their desire to achieve an industry where non –
participation in the Scheme is at a minimum and where all relevant Containers and Products
are captured by the Scheme. The Members recognise the importance of their roles as
industry leaders in achieving this.

2.

DEFINITIONS

2.1

In this Constitution the words in the first column have the meaning attributed to them in the
second column:
Act
AHAA

means the Corporations Act 2001 (Commonwealth)
means Animal Health Alliance (Australia) Ltd ABN 76 116 848 344
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ALGA
Alternate Director
Attending
Member
Auditor
Board
Business Day

Chair
CLA
Company
Company
Secretary
Constitution
Containers

Director
Directors
Former MOU

member
NFF
Notice
Office
Products

Registered
Address
Scheme

VMDA

means Australian Local Government Association Ltd ABN 31 008 613
876
means a person appointed as an alternate director under clause 11.3
means, in relation to a meeting of Members, the Member present at
the place of the meeting through its corporate representative in
person, by proxy or by attorney
means the Company's auditor or agent authorized in writing by the
Auditor
means the Directors of the Company from time to time
means a day except a Saturday or a Sunday or public holiday in the
state or territory in which the Company is taken to be registered for
the purposes of the Corporations Act
means the person who is entitled to chair all meetings of the Directors
means CropLife Australia Ltd ABN 29 008 579 048
means AgStewardship Australia Limited ACN 133 108 853
means any person appointed by the Directors to perform any of the
duties of a secretary of the Company and if there are joint secretaries,
anyone or more of such joint secretaries
means the constitution of the Company as amended from time to
time
Non-returnable metal or plastic container above 1 litre/kilogram
(“1L/Kg”) in declared content used in the packaging of Products.
This specifically includes Containers of Hazardous Products and may,
at the discretion of the manufacturer/supplier, include containers of
Non-hazardous products.
includes any person occupying the position of director of the
Company and, where appropriate, includes an Alternate Director
means all or some of the Directors acting as a board
The Industry Waste Reduction Scheme Memorandum of
Understanding as amended from time to time between AHAA, CLA,
VMDA, NFF and ALGA
means a member of the Company
means the National Farmers Federation Ltd ABN 77 097 140 166
means a notice given pursuant to, or for the purposes of, this
Constitution or the Corporations Act.
means the Company's registered office
Crop protection and on-farm animal health products used for:
(a) Agricultural and on-farm animal health production
(b) Industrial and recreational pest and weed control;
(c) Forestry;
(d) Household pest control operations; and
(e) Similar activities conducted by local, State and Federal
Government authorities.
means the registered office from time to time of the Company
means the programs for the cleaning, collection and recycling, or
appropriate destruction or disposal, of unwanted Containers and
chemicals, operating under the registered trade names of
"drumMuster" and "ChemClear”
means The Veterinary Manufacturers and Distributors Association
ABN 29 819 231 380
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3.

INTERPRETATION

3.1

In this constitution, unless the contrary intention appears:

4.

(a)

the singular includes the plural and vice versa and words importing a gender include
other genders;

(b)

words importing natural persons include corporations;

(c)

words and expressions defined in the Act have the same meaning in this
constitution; and

(d)

headings are for ease of reference only and do not affect the construction of this
constitution.

APPLICATION OF CORPORATIONS ACT
(a)

Unless the context indicates a contrary intention, in this Constitution:
i)

ii)

(b)

a reference to the Act is to the Act in force in relation to the company after
taking into account any waiver, modification or exemption which is in force
either generally or in relation to the Company; and
a word or phrase given a meaning in the Act has the same meaning in this
Constitution where it relates to the same matters as the matters for which it
is defined in the Act, unless that word or phrase is otherwise defined in this
Constitution; and

The replaceable rules in the Act do not apply to the Company.

5.

OBJECTS OF THE COMPANY

5.1

The Company is established for the following principal objects:
a) to manage and administer all levies collected from the sale of Containers and to
ensure that such levies are used only for the purposes of the Scheme; and
b) to scrutinise the cost and performance of the Scheme.

5.2

The Company may not make distributions of profit to any of its members.

5.3

The Company has all of the capacities and powers conferred by the Act.

6.

INCOME AND PROPERTY OF THE COMPANY

6.1

The income and property of the Company will only be applied towards the promotion of the
objects of the Company set out in clause 5.

6.2

No income or property will be paid or transferred directly or indirectly to any member
except for payments in return for any services rendered or goods supplied in the ordinary
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and usual course of business to the Company; or the payment of interest on moneys
borrowed from a member, at a rate not exceeding from time to time the overdraft rates of
interest paid by the Company for moneys borrowed from its bankers.

7.

MEMBERSHIP.

7.1

The members at the date of incorporation of the Company are AHAA, ALGA, CLA, NFF
and VMDA.

7.2

The Directors may agree to admit to membership any other body (whether incorporated or
unincorporated) that the Directors consider in their discretion to be a body that will assist
the objects of the Company. Upon such a body consenting to be a member, and paying such
fees (if any) as the Directors may determine, the name of the body will be entered in the
register of members.

7.3

Each member must appoint a representative to act on behalf of the member at general
meetings, and to exercise all of the other powers of a member. The member may appoint
and replace its representative as it sees fit. Notice of appointment and replacement must be
given to the Company when it occurs, but in any event within seven days thereafter. The
Company must keep a register of the member's representatives, which is to be open to all
members. A representative may also be a Director.

7.4

A member may resign from membership of the Company at any time with effect from the
date specified in the notice. The date specified may not be later than six months after the
notice is given to the Company.

7.5

The members in general meeting by a resolution passed by a majority of three quarters of
the members voting, may terminate the membership of a member at any time and without
reasons being required.

8.

GENERAL MEETINGS

8.1

Power to convene a general meeting

8.2

8.3

a)

A general meeting must be convened and held in accordance with the Act. Except as
provided by the Act, no member may call a meeting of the Company.

b)

The Directors may convene a general meeting whenever they think fit.

Notice of a general meeting
a)

Subject to the provisions of the Act as to short notice, not less than 14 days' notice
of a general meeting must be given in writing to each member. In the case of a
general meeting convened to consider a special resolution, not less than 21 days'
notice must be given in writing to each member.

b)

A notice convening a meeting of the Company must specify the place, day, and hour
of the meeting; and in the case of a special resolution the general nature of the
special business to be dealt with at the meeting must also be stated.

Auditor's right to attend general meeting
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a)

The Auditor is entitled:
i)
To receive all notices and other communications relating to any general
meeting which a member is entitled to receive;
ii)

8.4

To attend and speak at any general meeting whether or not the Auditor
retires at that meeting or there is a resolution being considered at that
meeting.

Cancellation or postponement of a general meeting
a)

Where a general meeting is convened by the Directors, they may cancel the meeting,
or postpone the meeting to a date and time determined by them, whenever they
think fit.

b)

Written notices of postponement of a general meeting must be given to all persons
entitled to receive notices of general meetings from the Company at least three days
before the date for which the meeting is convened, and must specify the reason for
postponement.

9.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

9.1

Business of annual general meeting
a)

The business of an annual general meeting shall be to consider the effectiveness of
the Company's overall efforts to meeting its objectives. It shall also be to receive and
consider the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, and the reports of the
Directors and the Auditor.

9.2

Special business
a)
All business (other than that referred to in Rule 9.1) which is transacted at an annual
general meeting, and all business transacted at any other general meeting shall be
considered special business.

9.3

Quorum

9.4

a)

Three of the members present by their representatives are a quorum at a general
meeting.

b)

An item of business may not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum is
present when the meeting proceeds to consider it. If a quorum is present at the
beginning of a meeting, it is to be deemed present through the meeting, unless the
Chair of the meeting otherwise declares.

Chair of General Meetings
a)

9.5

The Chair of Directors shall preside at general meetings.

How questions are decided
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9.6

a)

Every question submitted to a meeting is to be decided by consensus, or if a
consensus cannot be reached, by a show of hands.

b)

A declaration by the Chair of the meeting that the motion has been carried (or
carried unanimously, or without dissent, or by a particular majority, or lost), and an
entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting, is conclusive evidence of that
occurrence.

Adjournment
a)

The Chair of a meeting may with the consent of the meeting adjourn the meeting
from time to time and place to place. However, the only business that may be
transacted at an adjourned meeting is the business left unfinished at the meeting
when the adjournment took place, and the Act applies.

b)

If a meeting is adjourned for more than 14 days, notice of the adjournment must be
given in accordance with Rule 8.2(a).

10.

VOTES OF MEMBERS

10.1

Voting rights
a)

At any general meeting, only members may vote.

b)

Proxies may not be appointed to speak or vote on behalf of members.

a)

On any resolution, each member other than the NFF has one vote. NFF has such
number of votes as equal all of the other votes cast on the resolution, plus one.

11.

DIRECTORS

11.1

Number of Directors
a)

11.2

The initial number of Directors must not be more than six. Any increase in the
number of directors must be approved by the members by special resolution.

Appointment of Directors
a)

The Directors are to be appointed by the following members:
- one, appointed by AHAA;
- one, appointed by VMDA:
- one, appointed by CLA:
- one, appointed by NFF; and
- the Chair, appointed by CLA and NFF jointly.

b)

The first Directors are to be appointed by the members having the power of
appointment as soon as possible after incorporation of the Company.

c)

Directors hold office without the need for re-election. They continue as Directors
until they cease to hold office in accordance with clause 12.
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11.3

Alternate Directors.
a)

A Director may, with the consent of the member who appointed the Director,
appoint an Alternate Director to act in place of the Director. The appointment of an
Alternate Director may be revoked by the Director at any time. An Alternate Director
has, when acting, all of the powers of the appointing Director.

12.

VACATION OF OFFICE AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST

12.1

Vacation of office
The office of a Director is automatically vacated if the Director:

12.2

a)

resigns, or is removed from office by the member with the power to appoint the
Director; or

b)

ceases to be a Director by virtue of, or becomes prohibited from being a Director
because of, an order made under the Act; or

c)

ceases to be nominated by a member or members, and Notice of the withdrawal of
that member/s’ nomination is received by the Company; or

d)

is not present personally at the meetings of the Directors for a continuous period of
twelve months without leave of absence from the Directors; or

e)

is removed from office by a resolution pursuant to the Act.

Director's interests
a)

A Director may vote in respect of a contract in which the Director has directly (or
indirectly) a personal, material interest if the Director declares that interest prior to
the vote being taken, and a majority of the other Directors do not object.

b)

A Director is not disqualified by that office from serving the Company in any other
office (except that of Auditor), nor in any other professional capacity, and is not
liable to account for any remuneration in that office or capacity.

c)

A firm or company in which a Director is a member or director may be engaged in a
professional capacity in or about the affairs of the Company (except as Auditors), at
usual professional remuneration.

d)

A contract entered into (by or on behalf of the Company) is not void or voidable by
reason only that the Director is in any way (directly or indirectly) interested in it.

13.

POWERS OF DIRECTORS

13.1

The management of the affairs of the Company is vested in the Directors who may exercise
all powers of the Company that this constitution and the Act do not require to be exercised
by the Company in general meetings.

13.2

The Directors may make policy which will assist in meeting the Company’s objectives.

Annexure F AgStewardship Constitution

14.

PAYMENTS TO DIRECTORS

14.1

A Director may be paid a meeting fee, at a level to be determined by the members in general
meeting, for attending each meeting.

14.2

Unless otherwise approved by the Directors, no payment will be made to any Director of the
Company except:
a)

Payments made in accordance with clause 14.1;

b)

Reasonable travelling, accommodation and other expenses which the Director incurs
when travelling to or from meetings on the Directors (or of a committee, or of
general meetings of the Company), or when otherwise engaged in the affairs of the
Company;

c)

A payment for any service rendered to the Company by a Director in a professional
or technical capacity other than in the capacity as Director, where the provision of
the service and the amount payable has the prior approval of the Directors of the
Company;

d)

A payment relating to an indemnity in favour of the Director and permitted by the
Act or a contract of insurance in favour of the Director and permitted by the Act; and

e)

Such other remuneration for acting as a Director of the Company as the Members of
the Company in general meeting may agree.

15.

PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

15.1

Meetings
a)

15.2

15.3

15.4

The Directors may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn, and otherwise
regulate their meetings and proceedings as they think fit.

Quorum
a)

Until otherwise determined by the Directors, three Directors present are a quorum.

b)

An interested Director is to be counted in a quorum notwithstanding the Director's
interest.

Convening meetings
a)

Meetings shall be convened by the Chair.

b)

A Director who is not in Australia is entitled to notice of a meeting of Directors, but if
desired by the absent Director leave of absence for the meeting shall be
automatically granted.

Chair and Deputy Chair

Annexure F AgStewardship Constitution

15.5

a)

The Chair shall be appointed by CLA and NFF jointly.

b)

The Directors may elect a Deputy Chair, and may determine the period for which the
Deputy Chair is to hold office. The Deputy Chair may be removed by a resolution of
the Directors, of which not less than 14 days' notice has been given to all the
Directors for the time being in Australia, and to all the members.

How questions are decided
a)

15.6

15.7

Committees
a)

The Directors may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of such
Director or Directors and other persons as they think fit, and may revoke such
delegation. The delegation may not be to the exclusion of (or in substitution for) all
or any of the power of the Directors.

b)

A committee in the exercise of the power delegated by the Directors must conform
to any regulations imposed by the Directors.

c)

Subject to clause 15.8, the meetings and proceedings of a committee consisting of
two or more Directors are governed by the provisions of this Constitution as to the
meetings and proceedings of the Directors (so far as they are applicable).

Written resolution
a)

15.8

Questions arising at a meeting of the Directors are to be decided by consensus or if a
consensus cannot be reached by a majority of votes of Directors. In the event of an
equality of votes, the Chair shall have and cast the deciding vote.

Subject to the Act, a resolution in writing signed by all the Directors who are for the
time being in Australia (or all the members of a committee who are for the time
being in Australia) is as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of
the Directors or committee duly called and constituted at the time the resolution
was last signed. Directors (or members of a committee) must in either case be at
least a quorum. The resolution may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more of the Directors (or members).

Telephone meeting
a)

The contemporaneous linking together by telephone of a number of Directors, being
at least a quorum, whether or not anyone or more of them is out of Australia, is to
be deemed to constitute a meeting of the Directors. All the provisions of this
Constitution as to meetings of the Directors apply to such a meeting, if the following
conditions are met:
i)

All the Directors entitled to notice of a meeting of the Directors are given
notice of the meeting, and for this purpose notice of the meeting may be
given on the telephone; and
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15.9

ii)

All the Directors wanting to take part in the meeting are linked by telephone
for purposes of the meeting; and

iii)

At the commencement of the meeting each Director taking part
acknowledges the respective Director's presence for the purpose of the
meeting (to all other Directors taking part), and acknowledges that the
Director is able to hear each of the other Directors taking part.

b)

A Director may not leave a telephone meeting by disconnecting the telephone
without the consent of the Chair of the meeting. A Director is to be deemed to be
present (and to form part of the quorum throughout the meeting) unless the
Director has obtained the consent of the Chair of the meeting to leave the meeting.

c)

A minute of the proceedings at a telephone meeting is sufficient evidence of the
proceedings, and the observance of all necessary formalities, if it is certified as a
correct minute by the Chair.

Validity of the acts of the Directors
a)

All acts of the Directors or a committee are valid notwithstanding that it is
afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment, election, or
eligibility of any of them.

16.

SECRETARY

16.1

A Secretary holds office on such terms and conditions, as to remuneration and otherwise, as
the Directors determine.

17.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

17.1

The Directors may appoint any person to be the Chief Executive Officer on such terms as
they see fit.

17.2

Powers of the Chief Executive Officer
a)

The Directors may confer on a Chief Executive Officer any powers exercisable by the
Directors, subject to any terms and restrictions determined by the Directors.

b)

The Directors may authorise a Chief Executive Officer to sub-delegate all or any of
the powers vested in him or her.

c)

Any power conferred under this clause may be concurrent with but not to the
exclusion of Directors’ powers.

d)

The Chief Executive Officer, while not a Director, may attend meetings of Directors
except where the Directors request otherwise.

e)

The Directors may at any time withdraw or vary any of the powers conferred on a
Chief Executive Officer.
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18.

AUTHENTICATION OF DOCUMENTS

18.1

Company Seals
a)

18.2

The Company need not have a common seal, and may execute any document in
accordance with the Act.

Negotiable instruments
a)

Cheques, bills of exchange, promissory notes, and other negotiable instruments may
be signed (or accepted, drawn, made or indorsed) on behalf of the Company in such
manner and by such persons as the Directors determine.

19.

SERVICE OF DOCUMENTS

19.1

A notice or other document may be delivered or served by the Company either personally,
or by serving it by ordinary post to the address for service in Australia notified by each
member to the Company.

19.2

Notices served by post are deemed to have been received when they would be delivered in
the ordinary course of the post.

20.

WINDING UP

20.1

The liability of the members of the Company is limited.

20.2

Every member undertakes to contribute $50.00 to the assets of the Company, if it is wound
up while the member holds membership, or within one year thereafter, for payment of the
debts and liabilities of the Company, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up,
and of adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves.

20.3

If on the winding up or dissolution of the Company there remains (after satisfaction of all its
debts and liabilities), any property whatever, that property may not be paid to or distributed
among the members, but must be given or transferred to another company which limits the
return to its members to the same extent as in the Constitution.

20.4

The company referred to in clause 20.3 shall be determined by the Directors at or before the
time of dissolution with preference given to a company with objectives similar to that of the
Company.

21.

INDEMNITY

21.1

Every person who is or who has been:
a)

a director of the Company; or

b)

a secretary of the Company;

is entitled to be indemnified out of the property of the Company against:
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c)

every liability incurred by the person in that capacity (except a liability for legal
costs); and

d)

all legal costs incurred in defending or resisting (or otherwise in connection with)
proceedings, whether civil or criminal or of an administrative or investigatory nature,
in which the person becomes involved because of that capacity,

unless:

21.2

e)

the Company is forbidden by statute to indemnify the person against the liability or
legal costs; or

f)

an indemnity by the Company of the person against the liability or legal costs would,
if given, be made void by statute.

The Company may pay or agree to pay, whether directly or through an interposed entity, a
premium for a contract insuring a person who is or has been a director or secretary of the
Company against liability incurred by the person in that capacity, including a liability for legal
costs, unless:
(a)

the Company is forbidden by statute to payor agree to pay the premium; or

(b)

the contract would, if the Company paid the premium, be made void by statute.
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Product Stewardship
What is Product Stewardship?

Factsheet

Product stewardship is about minimising the impact of a manufactured
product on the environment at all stages of its life cycle. Those who
design, produce, sell or use a product are all encouraged to take
responsibility, from its inception, through to the end-of-life stage. By
adopting safe practices in the manufacture, use and disposal of a product,
the impact on people, property and the environment can be curtailed. The
greatest responsibility often lies with the manufacturer of the product,
although all parties in the chain of commerce have an obligation to
manage its use.
What is Agsafe?
Agsafe is an Australian non-profit
organisation offering programs
that support product stewardship
of agricultural and veterinary
chemicals at all levels of the supply
chain.
The manufacture, supply, use and
disposal of agvet chemicals is
managed by state and territory
government regulators. Agsafe seeks
to encourage compliance with safety
regulations by offering accreditation
and training for suppliers of agvet
chemicals (Accreditation and
Training); container management
(drumMUSTER) and product disposal
(ChemClear).
What is Accreditation & Training?
Our training programs are designed
for people working in the agvet
chemical supply chain who are
responsible for the handling, sale and
advising on chemical use. Courses
are recommended for all employees
involved in the storage and handling
of agvet chemical products including
agronomists and sales personnel.
Course topics include:
• safe storage and handling of
agvet chemical products
• dangerous goods transportation
• legal requirements for
manufacturers and suppliers.
Agsafe premises accreditation ensures
stores are compliant with State and
Territory regulations for the transport,
storage and handling of agvet
products. Accreditation assures
farmers and customers they can trust
advice from suppliers and they are
minimising potential risk to human
health, the community and the
environment from misuse, accidental
spills and releases.

FOR MORE
INFORMATION
(02) 6206 6888
www.agsafe.org.au

FIND US ON
SOCIAL MEDIA

What is drumMUSTER?
Containers with the drumMUSTER logo
have a 4-cent/lt levy included in the
cost of the chemical at purchase,
which covers the collection of these
eligible, clean chemical containers.
The drums are inspected by collection
agencies, transported, processed then
recycled into wheelie bins, signage,
pipes, containers and fence posts.

What is ChemClear?
It’s not unusual for farmers to have
old, unwanted or unknown chemicals
cluttering up storage sheds and these
surplus chemicals are frequently
forgotten about, with landowners
often faced with the dilemma of how
to dispose of broken, leaking or
unlabeled containers. Safe disposal is
imperative to the safety of a farm’s
family members, workers, livestock,
pets and the environment. Funded
by the same levy as drumMUSTER,
ChemClear offers a safe disposal path
for unwanted chemicals where users
register their unwanted products
with the program, then relinquish
their chemicals at a scheduled
collection point for safe removal.
ChemClear has two categories of
agvet chemicals they collect.
Group 1 chemical containers are
collected free under the program.
These chemicals are identified by a
drumMUSTER eligible logo on the
chemical label or embedded in the
container.
Group 2 chemicals, which attract a
disposal fee unless covered by a
government subsidy, are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

no longer registered for use
unknown
unlabeled
out of date
mixed agvet chemicals
chemicals from non-participating
manufacturers.

drumMUSTER
eligible logo

Jan 17
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Program Information

Factsheet

drumMUSTER is the national program for the collection and
recycling of eligible non-returnable crop production andanimal
health product chemical containers from manufacturers
participating in the Industry Waste Reduction Scheme (IWRS).
What does drumMUSTER
mean for Australian rural
chemical users?
drumMUSTER provides the best
solution to the problem of disposing
of empty chemical containers. It is
cleaner, safer and more cost effective
than other disposal methods.

Why use the drumMUSTER
program?
drumMUSTER is the only responsible
way for disposal of farm chemical
containers. By using the program
chemical users are:
• limiting farm risk
• limiting environmental risk

What are the benefits of
using the drumMUSTER
program?
• drumMUSTER meets the
requirements of Quality
Assurance programs and
Environmental Management
Systems. Chemical users are
provided with a receipt for all
drums delivered to the program.
• Continues to ensure Australian
food safety standards are
maintained.
• drumMuster is an effective way
of recycling farm waste.

Which containers are
accepted at a drumMUSTER
collection?

FOR MORE
INFORMATION
1800 008 707
www.drummuster.ORG.au

Find us on
social media

Chemical containers on which the
levy has been charged will have the
drumMUSTER eligible container logo
attached (see above).

The label can be
placed on the
container as a
sticker, included
on the product
label or
embossed onto
the container.
If the container does not have a logo
it may be because the manufacturer
has opted out of the program and
therefore no levy is being charged, or
because the container does not fall
under the drumMUSTER eligibility
criteria (these will not be eligible for
collection.)

Which containers will not be
accepted at a drumMUSTER
collection?
Containers will not be accepted if
they:
• have not been properly cleaned
and drained inside and out
(including the threads and caps)
and have visible chemical
residue,
• are not eligible for drumMUSTER
collection.

Levy
Chemical users pay a four cent (4c)
per litre or kilogram levy when they
purchase eligible products displaying
the above logo.

No Logo - No Go
Program Eligibility
Eligible containers must carry the
drumMUSTER logo. it will appear
either:
1. on the label,
2. applied as a sticker to the
container or label, or
3. embossed onto the wall of the
container.
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Factsheet
LS

COLLECTING UNWANTED
AGVET CHEMICALS
The program contributes to the
ongoing sustainability of Australia’s
food and agricultural industries,
ensuring unwanted chemicals are
collected and disposed of in a safe
and responsible manner.
The appropriate collection and
disposal of these chemicals
minimises their impact on the
environment if otherwise left
unattended. The service ensures
these possible environmental
contaminants are retrieved and in
turn reduces waste and the
possibility of residual contamination.
ChemClear requires users of agvet
chemicals to identify the chemicals
they are using and storing, assess
the chemicals that need disposing of
and register them for the next
ChemClear collection in their shire
council area.
CLASSIFICATIONS
Group 1 chemicals are collected
FREE* under the program. These
chemicals are currently registered
agvet chemicals manufactured
under the Industry Waste Reduction
Stewardship initiative.
Group 2 chemicals are those
chemicals that are no longer
registered, unknown, unlabelled, out
of date, or mixed agvet chemicals.
A fee per L/kg applies for disposal
unless a state governement subsidy
is in place.

FOR MORE
INFORMATION
1800 008 182
WWW.CHEMCLEAR.ORG.AU

Find us on
social media

drumMUSTER eligible logo
There are only six steps to the
program, it’s that simple:
Step 1:
Take an Inventory of your unwanted
agvet chemicals including:
• manufacturer's name
• product name
• container size
• number of containers
• estimation of remaining
chemical in container
• container integrity
Step 2:
Register them for collection @
www.chemclear.org.au or Free call
1800 008 182.
Step 3:
Continue to store your registered
chemicals safely and securely.
Step 4:
ChemClear will contact you directly
to advise the location of the
collection point for retrieval and
provide a quotation for any Group 2
chemicals registered for collection.
Step 5:
Prepare chemicals for delivery to
collection site.

*Reseller policy applies

Step 6:

Register your unwanted chemicals
online or by ringing our hotline.

Deliver your chemicals to the
advised collection site in your area.

Annexure G 4 - DIsposal of AgVet Chemicals

Disposal of agvet chemicals
Following collection, all retrieved agvet chemicals are safely
transported to ChemClear's contractor depot in Melbourne for sorting
into batches for appropriate treatment and disposal.

Fact sheet

Treatment of Group 1 chemicals

Disposal facts

General and organophosphorus
pesticides are blended with various
solvents and used in an energy
recovery process in the cement
manufacturing industry. This
process utilises the calorific value of
the mix as a fuel source to produce
energy for cement kilns.

98% of chemicals collected by
ChemClear are used as an alternative
fuel source.

Treatment of Group 2 chemicals
Destruction of organochlorine-based
pesticides involves injecting the
chemical into a plasma torch that
burns at a temperature of 3500
degrees celsius, similar to the
temperature of the sun.
This reduces the chemical to its
"building blocks" and it is treated to
form salty water and carbon dioxide.
Arsenic-based pesticides are, in
some cases, oxidised followed by a
fixation technique under alkaline
conditions.
The stablised waste is placed under a
Toxicity Characteristic Leaching
Procedure (TCLP), which is a test
simulating any potentially toxic
material that could leak out of solid
material.
The test simulates what would
happen if the waste was stabilised
and landfilled and what would
happen if rainwater passed through
the stabilised waste.

FOR MORE
INFORMATION
1800 008 182
WWW.CHEMCLEAR.ORG.AU

Test results must indicate the arsenic
limits are below landfill
specifications.
Alternatively, arsenics in solvent
solutions may be used as kiln fuels.

The remaining 2%, which are
Schedule X organochlorines, arsenics
and cyanides, are treated as follows:
Schedule X organochlorines are
destroyed by Plasma Arc technology
at the Toxfree PLASCON plant, which
operates 24 hours each day.
The PLASCON destroys waste at the
rate of 40-45kg per hour, returning a
destruction efficiency of 99.99%.
Some arsenic solutions in organic
solvents may be used as kiln fuels in
low percentages.
Stablisation followed by secure
landfill is adopted as a disposal route
under the guidance of environmental
protection authorities in each state
and territory.
Cyanides are treated to produce
harmless salts and other inorganic
materials to render them safe for
disposal through industrial waste
water treatment plants.
Recycling
All chemical containers decanted
under the ChemClear program are
recycled and used in the manufacture
of wheelie bins, construction
materials, fence posts and piping.
All eligible drumMUSTER containers
are recorded under that program.

Find us on
social media

Jan 2017

drumMUSTER eligible logo

Annexure G 5 - Simple Steps Rinsing Guide

A step by step guide to effective and economic waste management
Proper chemical container rinsing can save you money. It’s simple.
Uncleaned containers with left over residue could contain up to
$10 worth of product.

drumMUSTER suggests the following steps to prevent you pouring
money down the drain:

1.

Rinse out your drumMUSTER
containers immediately after
using them.
Pour the rinse water back into

2. the spray tank and ensure the

container is clean throughout.

lids and puncture
3. Remove
metal containers.

4. Allow drums to dry.
5.

Check drums again for any left
over residue and rinse if residue
remains.

6.

Return them to your nearest
drumMUSTER site. This can be
found at www.drummuster.org.au

A few ‘simple steps’ to help
save money with responsible
waste management...

Effective Rinsing Guide
WWW.DRUMMUSTER.ORG.AU

Annexure g 6 - ABCs for your IBCs

ABCs for your IBCs
drumMUSTER does not accept bulk containers for recycling,
the program can only accept containers between 1-205L.
However, the good news is the return, reconditioning and
recycling of most IBCs is managed by a number of proprietary
programs.

Factsheet

How do you return bulk agvet
chemical storage containers?
As more resellers turn to using
Intermediate Bulk Containers (IBCs) for
their customers’ agvet chemical needs,
many are still unsure about the right way
to return IBCs once they’ve been used.
The return process can be confusing,
especially with multiple manufacturers
of IBCs with different return policies.
Agsafe has prepared a quick and
easy guide that may assist users on
how to send IBCs back for recycling or
reuse.

VIP Packaging
VIP Packaging will retrieve a minimum
of 4 IBCs from premises.
All herbicide, pesticide and fungicide
IBCs should be empty (less than 1% or
10L) and free from outside
contamination. Details of conditions
are attached to VIP containers (see
below).
To book a collection, visit
www.vippackaging.com.au and
download the IBC Collection Request
Form, or phone: 03 8676 4949.

Schutz Australia
Schutz Australia has a ticket service
where resellers or end-users register
their empty Schutz containers for
collection and reconditioning.
When an IBC is empty and returned by
the grower, stores should contact Schutz
to arrange a collection. All return freight
is covered by Schutz.
 Stores must have a minimum of 4
IBCs on hand.
 Schutz will collect from
distributors within 10 working
days of collection booking.
 Empty containers don't require
rinsing however some conditions
apply. Details of the collection
conditions are on the ticket
located on the label plate of the
IBC or the website (see pic).
 Schutz has a collection program
for some 100-120L drums used by
growers - minimum 10 drums.

FOR MORE
INFORMATION
1800 008 707
www.drummuster.ORG.au

Find us on
social media

To request an IBC collection, visit
www.schuetz-packaging.net or phone:
03 9360 9291.

Schutz IBC collection ticket

Tank Management Services
Tank Management Services (TMS)
provide a collection service for IBCs
in the Eastern States (NSW, QLD &
VIC).
The following conditions apply:
 Containers must be empty.
 All collections subject to prior
approval from TMS. Visit
www.tankmanagement.com.au to
view the T&Cs.
To arrange a collection, phone 1800
333 124 or visit the TMS website for
more information.

